70123-1

701231

NO. 70123-1-I

#### THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

T.G. (D.O.B. 3/12/97),

Appellant.

#### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

C.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E.	ARGUMENT 10
	<ol> <li>The officers unlawfully detained T.G. for an unjustified duration without individualized suspicion</li></ol>
	a. The state and federal constitutions prohibit unjustified seizures
	<ul> <li>b. The officers seized T.G. when detaining and questioning him, searching his bag, and directing his movements for over 20 minutes</li></ul>
	c. The Terry stop was unlawful at its inception because the police did not have individualized suspicion of T.G.'s involvement in a crime
	d. The seizure was unlawfully extended 17
	i. The officers exceeded the permissible duration of the detention after the complainant did not identify T.G. as a possible burglar
	<ul> <li>The seizure cannot be justified by the unlawful search of T.G.'s backpack</li></ul>
	<ul> <li>iii. The officers lacked authority to extend the seizure based on potential tobacco possession or missing school</li></ul>

	e. All fruits of the unconstitutional Terry stop should be suppressed
	2. Ms. Waldon identified T.G. only after a suggestive showup that renders her claim that T.G. was present unreliable and insufficient as the sole basis for his conviction
	<ul> <li>An out of court identification procedure violates due process when it is so suggestive it creates a substantial likelihood of misidentification</li></ul>
	b. The showup procedure was impermissibly suggestive 29
	<ul> <li>c. The suggestive show-up procedure created a substantial likelihood of misidentification</li></ul>
F.	CONCLUSION

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

۹

# Washington Supreme Court Decisions

State v. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d 738, 64 P.3d 594, 599 (2003) 17
State v. Allen, 176 Wn.2d 611, 294 P.2d 679 (2013) 39
State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997) 12
State v. Broadnax, 98 Wn.2d 289, 654 P.2d 96 (1982)14
State v. Duncan, 146 Wn.2d 166, 175, 43 P.3d 513 (2002)
State v. Ferrier, 136 Wn.2d 103, 111, 960 P.2d 927 (1998) 11, 21
State v. Garvin, 166 Wn.2d 242, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009) 20
State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 222 P.3d 92 (2009)12
State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 726 P.2d 445 (1986)21
State v. Khounvichai, 149 Wn.2d 557, 69 P.3d 862 (2003) 21
State v. Maupin, 128 Wn.2d 918, 913 P.3d 808 (1996)
State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 584, 62 P.2d 489 (2003) 10, 12
State v. Parker, 139 Wn.2d 486, 987 P.2d 73 (1999)14
State v. Rankin, 151 Wn.2d 689, 92 P.3d 202 (2004) 11, 27
State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 101 P.3d 80, 85 (2004)
State v. Schultz, 170 Wn.2d 746, 248 P.3d 484 (2011)
State v. Snapp, 174 Wn.2d 177, 275 P.3d 289 (2012)19

State v. Wheeler, 108 Wn.2d 230, 737 P.2d 1005 (1987)15
State v. White, 97 Wn.2d 92, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982) 10, 11, 24
State v. Williams, 102 Wn.2d 733, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984) 11, 17

#### Washington Court of Appeals Decisions

State v. Barker, 103 Wn. App. 893, 14 P.3d 863 (2000)... 28, 34, 35, 36, 37

State v. Beito, 147 Wn.App. 504, 195 P.3d 1023 (2008) 12
State v. Bray, 143 Wn.App. 148, 177 P.3d 154 (2008) 14, 17
State v. Carney, 142 Wn.App. 197, 174 P.3d 142 (2007) 12
State v. Fortun-Cebada, 158 Wn.App. 158, 241 P.3d 800 (2010) 36
State v. Henry, 80 Wn.App. 544, 910 P.2d 1290 (1995) 16, 24
State v. Hilliard, 89 Wn.2d 430, 573 P.2d 22 (1977)27
State v. Kinard, 109 Wn. App. 428, 36 P.3d 573 (2001)
State v. Martinez, 135 Wn.App. 174, 143 P.3d 618 (2006)16
State v. McDonald, 40 Wn.App. 743, 700 P.2d 327 (1985) 32, 35, 37
State v. Ramires, 109 Wn.App. 749, 761, 37 P.3d 343, rev. denied, 146 Wn.2d 1022 (2002)
State v. Richardson, 64 Wn.App. 693, 825 P.2d 754 (1992) 14
State v. Rogers, 44 Wn.App. 510, 722 P.2d 1349 (1986) 29, 35, 37
State v. Traweek, 43 Wn.App. 99, 715 P.2d 1148 (1986)

# **United States Supreme Court Decisions**

Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543, 88 S. Ct. 1788, 1792, 20 L.Ed.2d 797 (1968)
Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967)
J.D.B. v. North Carolina, U.S, 131 S. Ct. 2394, 180 L.Ed.2d 310 (2011)
Mason v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977)
<i>Terry v. Ohio</i> , 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968) 11, 12, 13, 14, 17, 20, 24, 27
United States v. Wade, 388 U.S. 218, 87 S.Ct. 1926, 18 L.Ed.2d 1149 (1967)
Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963)
Ybarra v. Illinois, 444 U.S. 85, 100 S.Ct. 338, 62 L.Ed.2d 238 (1979)14

# **Federal Court Decisions**

Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 L. Ed. 2d 140
(1977)
Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 193 S. Ct. 357, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972)

# **United States Constitution**

.

Fourteenth Amendment	
Fourth Amendment	

# Washington Constitution

Article I, section 3	
Article I, section 7	. 10, 11, 13, 21

# Statutes

RCW 10.73.100	
RCW 28A.225.010	
RCW 70.155.080	

## **Other Authorities**

Brodes v. State, 614 S.E.2d 766 (Ga. 2005)
Comm. v. Johnson, 650 N.E.2d 1257, (Mass. 1995)
<ul> <li>Gary L. Wells &amp; Deah S. Quinlivan, Suggestive Eyewitness Identification Procedures and The Supreme Court's Reliability Test in Light of Eyewitness Science: Thirty Years Later, 33 Law &amp; Hum. Behav. 1 (Feb. 2009)</li></ul>
Harris v. State, 350 A.2d 768 (Del. 1975)
James M. Doyle, Discounting the Error Costs: Cross–Racial False Alarms in the Culture of Contemporary Criminal Justice, 7 Psychol. Pub. Pol'y & L. 253 (2001)

Jason Cantone, Do You Hear What I Hear?: Empirical Research on Earwitness Testimony, 17 TxWLR 123, (Winter 2011)
John C. Brigham et al., <i>The Influence of Race on Eyewitness Memory</i> , in 2 Handbook of Eyewitness Psychology: Memory for People, 257, 257-58 (Rod C. L. Lindsay et al. eds., 2006)
Jones v. State, 749 N.E.2d 575, 586 (Ind. App. 2001)
Richard A. Wise, <i>How to Analyze the Accuracy of Eyewitness</i> <i>Testimony in a Criminal Case</i> , 42 Conn. Law Rev. 435 (2009) 34
State v. Herrera, 902 A.2d 177 (N.J. 2006)
Veronica Valdivieso, DNA Warrants: A Panacea for Old, Cold Rape Cases?, 90 Geo. L.J. 1009 (2002)

#### A. INTRODUCTION.

For a period of three seconds, Erin Waldon saw two boys attempting to open her kitchen window. She focused on the boy closer to the window, who was not T.G. Police stopped T.G. and D.G. at a bus stop, requested to search T.G.'s backpack, checked their identities with their school, and asked Ms. Waldon whether these were the boys at her home. Ms. Waldon could not identify them.

Rather than release either boy, the police continued to detain them while Ms. Waldon watched. They separated the two boys, gave *Miranda* warnings, took their photographs, and tried to trick them into confessing. When the police moved the boys closer for a second showup, Ms. Waldon identified them as the people she saw outside her window.

The police lacked sufficient information to detain T.G. or authority to search his backpack. The resulting unduly suggestive showup produced an unreliable identification that should not have been admissible against T.G. Because no other evidence connects T.G. to the incident, his adjudication for attempted residential burglary must be reversed.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

 T.G. was unlawfully seized, searched, and subjected to a prolonged detention in violation of the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7.

2. The in-court and out-of-court identification procedures were impermissibly suggestive and produced an unreliable identification, contrary to T.G.'s right to due process of law.

The court erred in entering CrR 3.6 finding of fact 13,
 regarding whether T.G. matched the description of the perpetrator. CP
 96.

4. The court erred in entering CrR 3.6 finding of fact 17, which incorrectly states that T.G. voluntarily opened his backpack. CP 97.

5. The court erred in entering CrR 3.6 finding of fact 19, because Ms. Waldon did not explain her reasons for being unable to identify T.G. at the time of the first show-up. CP 97-98.

6. To the extent it is construed as a finding of fact, the Court erred in entering CrR 3.6 conclusion of law 3 because the seizure was not justified by sufficient evidence. CP 99.

7. To the extent it is construed as a finding of fact, the Court erred in entering CrR 3.6 conclusion of law 6 because the identification was inadmissible. CP 100.

8. The court erred in entering the CrR 6.1 finding of fact 25, incorrectly implying that Ms. Waldon's identification stemmed from the incident rather than the lengthy on-the-street detention and in-court proceedings. CP 82.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. A person may be seized only if police have individualized suspicion of his involvement in criminal activity and he must be released when evidence shows the person was not involved in the suspected criminal activity. T.G. was seized because he met a broad description of being a white teenage boy with brown hair and he was detained even after the complaining witness was unable to identify him. Was T.G. seized for a prolonged period of time absent reasonable suspicion?

2. A teenager lawfully consents to a police search of his closed backpack during an investigative detention only if the consent is intelligent and voluntary. A police officer detained 15-year-old T.G., asked for identification, called a police officer stationed at his school,

and requested that T.G. let him search his backpack without telling him he had the right to refuse or informing him of any of his rights. Did the police search T.G.'s backpack without obtaining his informed and meaningful consent?

3. A show-up identification is inherently suggestive and will be inadmissible if obtained in an unreliable fashion. The complaining witness had a very quick glimpse of two boys outside her window, was focused on the other boy during this short viewing opportunity, gave descriptions that did not match T.G. or D.G., and did not identify either boy when she first saw them. When the complainant changed her identification at a second joint show-up that occurred after she watched police officers interrogate the boys when she was unable to identify them initially, was the identification the product of unreliable and suggestive police procedures?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On May 3, 2012, Erin Waldon heard her doorbell ring and knocking on her front door. 1RP 35. As she walked toward the door, she noticed two boys standing outside her kitchen window and saw one boy's hand on the window. 1RP 36, 43. She looked at them "for about three seconds," then they ran away "really fast." 1RP 37, 55.

The window Ms. Waldon looked through was covered by slatted blinds that were turned open so they formed lines across the glass. 1RP 48; *see* Ex. 3 (showing closed, narrow blinds). Based on the few seconds she glimpsed the two boys through her slatted blinds, Ms. Waldon gave a description to the 911 operator. 1RP 38. She described the boys as very thin, 14 to 15 years old, and of the same height.1RP 38, 39, 55; 2RP 170, 276; Pretrial Ex. 2. She said they were both "wearing t-shirts" and possibly "one had a backpack."1RP 38; Pretrial Ex. 2.<sup>1</sup>

Ms. Waldon "focused in" on one boy who was closer to the window and had darker hair and darker skin tone.<sup>2</sup> 1RP 37, 39, 78. The 911 operator asked Ms. Waldon for the race of either boy, suggesting options such as black, Caucasian, Asian. 1RP 38. Ms. Waldon said the boy near the window was Asian because it was "the closest nationality that [the operator] suggested." 1RP 39, 71. Ms. Waldon described the second boy as light skinned with "reddish" brown hair. 1RP 98. At trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At trial, Ms. Waldon changed her original description and said the boys could have been wearing long sleeve shirts or sweatshirts but she was not sure. 1RP 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ms. Waldon said, "I'm referring to the person -- the one that I focused in on, he wasn't blond, basically, and he wasn't pale. That's what I mean when I say darker hair and darker skin." 1RP 39.

she said she did not get a good enough look at the second boy's hair other than that it was lighter than the first boy's hair. 1RP 78.

Officer John Ross arrived at Ms. Waldon's house. 1RP 95. She directed the officer northbound. 1RP 97. After circling the neighborhood with no success, Officer Ross headed toward the Kent-Meridian high school because there would be school-aged youths in the area. 1RP 167. The officer traveled south toward the school although Ms. Waldon said the boys ran north. 1RP 166.

The first two teenagers Officer Ross saw were at a bus stop near the high school. 2RP 168. He noticed that the boys had hair that looked wetter than their shirts and it had been raining earlier. 1RP 101; 2RP 129. One boy, D.G., "from a distance, he could have been possibly Southeast Asian. I wasn't sure, but there was some type of ethnicity in there." 1RP 170. Officer Ross thought that D.G. looked "Latino or American" up close. 2RP 170. In his police report, Officer Ross wrote that D.G. was Native American. CP 51; *See* Ex. 8 (photographs of T.G. and D.G.).

T.G. was also as at the bus stop and he had brown hair, not reddish, as described by Ms. Waldon. 2RP 170, 171; Ex. 8. Neither boy looked "very thin" as the initial description stated. Pretrial Ex. 2; Ex. 8.

Nor did T.G. have a dark t-shirt – he wore a white t-shirt with gray lettering. 2RP 171; Ex. 8. Contrary to Ms. Waldon's description, T.G. and D.G. were different heights and both boys had backpacks. 2RP 132, 171; Pretrial Ex. 2.

At 10:03 a.m., ten minutes after Ms. Waldon's 911 call, Officer Ross radioed that he had the possible suspects. 2RP 269. He directed the boys to move about 25 feet away from the bus stop so he could talk to them. 2RP 127, 129. T.G. and D.G. complied. 2RP 128. He asked the boys what they were up to and why they were not in school. 2RP 131. They said they had gone back to T.G.'s house to get his books and were on their way back to school. CP 37.

They denied any involvement in a burglary and maintained that they had come straight to the bus stop after getting the books. 2RP 246, 248. Officer Ross told them they had "pretty big bags" and "requested" that they open them "to make sure there's just school stuff in there." 2RP 132. The boys did as they were told. 2RP 133. Officer Ross saw that T.G. had a reversible jacket in his bag that was dark colored on the inside and that side was wet. 2RP 133, 173, 280. Ms. Waldon had not described either boy as wearing a jacket. The officer continued talking to both boys, asking for identification and checking with the police

officer stationed at their school to confirm their enrollment and dates of birth. 2RP 135.

Two more uniformed police officers, Nixon and Graff, arrived on the scene during this time period. 2RP 171, 245,253. Officer Ross testified that the youths were not free to leave during this encounter. 2RP 171-72.

Officer Jason Jones drove Ms. Waldon and her husband in his police car to the scene for a show-up identification. 2RP 135. Officer Jones asked Ms. Waldon to look out the car window at both boys, who stood together. 1RP 60. From what Officer Ross described as a distance of 35-45 feet, Ms. Waldon said she was unsure if the boys were the people she saw at her home. 1RP 61, 66; 2RP 136.<sup>3</sup> Ms. Waldon said her vision is "better than 20/20" and she did not complain that any obstacles blocked her view at the time. 1RP 62; 2RP 291-92.

After Ms. Waldon said she was not sure that either boy was involved, Officer Jones left Ms. Waldon and her husband inside the police car while he and Officer Nixon questioned T.G. and D.G. 2RP 276. For at least 10 minutes, the officers separated T.G. and D.G. from each other, read some of their *Miranda* rights from police-issued books,

and pressed them about the incident. 2RP 137, 246, 248. Officer Jones photographed each boy for police records. 2RP 278.

Because they did not have grounds to arrest the boys, Officer Jones returned to his police car to drive Ms. Waldon to her home. 2RP 276. At this time, Ms. Waldon asked Officer Jones if he could move the boys closer. 1RP 64; 2RP 146-47, 276. Officer Ross brought them to the front of the bumper, which Ms. Waldon estimated as ten feet from her. 1RP 22, 65; 2RP 140. When T.G. and D.G. stood together at the front of the police car, Ms. Waldon then identified them as the people who had been at her home. 2RP 282, 301.

T.G. was charged with attempted residential burglary. The trial court refused to bifurcate the CrR 3.5 and 3.6 motions from the fact-finding adjudication. 1RP 9-11. The court denied T.G.'s CrR 3.6 motion to suppress the fruits of the illegal detention and unduly suggestive identification, but granted his motion to suppress statements T.G. made without *Miranda* warnings. 2RP 329, 331.

Dr. Jeffrey Loftus testified about factors affecting the reliability of show-up identifications following brief viewings of criminal activity, but the court concluded that Ms. Waldon's identification was not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ms. Walden initially estimated the boys to be 50 yards away. 1RP 21.

irreparably tainted by suggestive procedures and her limited opportunity to observe during the incident. 2RP 218-19, 223, 226, 240, 363-67. The court admitted Ms. Waldon's out-of-court and in-court identification of T.G. and adjudicated him guilty as an accomplice to attempted residential burglary. CP 82.

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

# 1. The officers unlawfully detained T.G. for an unjustified duration without individualized suspicion

a. The state and federal constitutions prohibit unjustified seizures.

Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." The protection of privacy and individual rights afforded by article I, section 7 is greater than that guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment and "recognizes a person's right to privacy with no express limitations." *State v. O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d 564, 584, 62 P.2d 489 (2003) (citing *State v. White*, 97 Wn.2d 92, 108, 110, 640 P.2d 1061 (1982); *State v. Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d 103, 111, 960 P.2d 927 (1998)); U.S. Const. amend IVError! Bookmark not defined..<sup>4</sup>

An officer may conduct a brief, investigatory stop when the officer has a reasonable, articulable suspicion of criminal activity. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). When evaluating a *Terry* investigatory stop, a court must make two inquiries: "First, was the initial interference with the suspect's freedom of movement justified at its inception? Second, was it reasonably related in scope to the circumstances which justified the interference in the first place?" *State v. Williams*, 102 Wn.2d 733, 739, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984). Here, the answer to both inquiries is 'no.'

b. The officers seized T.G. when detaining and questioning him, searching his bag, and directing his movements for over 20 minutes.

"[A] seizure occurs, under article I, section 7, when considering all the circumstances, an individual's freedom of movement is restrained and the individual would not believe he or she is free to leave or decline a request due to an officer's use of force or display of authority." *State v. Rankin*, 151 Wn.2d 689, 695, 92 P.3d 202 (2004). It

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Fourth Amendment provides: "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable

is "elementary that all investigatory detentions constitute a seizure." *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 10, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997). Whether the facts may be characterized as a seizure "is a legal question this court reviews de novo." *State v. Beito*, 147 Wn.App. 504, 508-09, 195 P.3d 1023 (2008).

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