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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED 
EVIDENCE DISCOVERED DURING A LAWFUL 
TERRY STOP. 

Gauthun contends that Officer Ross lacked sufficient basis 

to stop him, so the evidence discovered during the encounter 

should have been suppressed, and his conviction for attempted 
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residential burglary must therefore be reversed. Because the 

record establishes that Ross had a reasonable and articulable 

suspicion that Gauthun and Green were involved in criminal activity 

when he initiated the stop, Gauthun's claim must be rejected. 

In reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress, the appellate 

court determines whether sUbstantial evidence supports the trial 

court's factual findings, and whether those findings support its 

conclusions of law. State v. Ross, 106 Wn. App. 876,880,26 P.3d 

298 (2001). Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. ~ 

Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. ~ 

Brief investigatory "Terry" stops are well-established 

exceptions to the general rule that warrantless seizures are 

unconstitutional. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30-31, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 

20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968); State v. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d 738, 746-47, 

64 P.3d 594 (2003) . A Terry stop is justified when an officer has 

specific and articulable facts that give rise to a reasonable 

suspicion that the person stopped is, or is about to be, engaged in 

criminal activity. State v. Kinzy, 141 Wn.2d 373, 384-85, 5 P.3d 

668 (2000). A reasonable suspicion is the "substantial possibility 

that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur." State v. 

Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6, 726 P.2d 445 (1986). "The 
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reasonableness of the officer's suspicion is determined by the 

totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the inception of 

the stop." State v. Rowe, 63 Wn. App. 750, 753, 822 P.2d 290 

(1991), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Bailey, 

109 Wn. App. 1, 3, 34 P.3d 239 (2000). The totality of the 

circumstances includes factors such as the officer's training and 

experience, the location of the stop, the conduct of the person 

detained, the purpose of the stop, the amount of physical intrusion 

upon the suspect's liberty, and the length of time the suspect is 

detained. State v. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003). 

Officer Ross had reasonable suspicion to stop Gauthun and 

Green. The boys were the only two individuals in the area who 

resembled the descriptions of suspects in the attempted burglary, 

and they were still together. They were located within minutes of 

the incident and only about one-third of a mile away from the 

scene. They seemed nervous and had shifty eyes. RP 130. 

Additionally, they appeared to have recently removed outer clothing 

despite the cold, rainy weather, and their explanation for being at a 

bus stop instead of school was not credible. Under the 

circumstances, it was reasonable for Officer Ross to believe that 

the teens were involved in the attempted burglary. 
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Gauthun contends, however, that he and Green did not 

match Waldon's descriptions because Gauthun's hair is brown, not 

reddish brown; because Gauthun was wearing a white T-shirt, not 

dark clothing ; because Waldon described the boys as the same 

height, but Green is actually shorter than Gauthun; and because 

Green is not Asian . Given the similarities between the boys and 

Waldon's descriptions, none of these discrepancies undermine the 

basis for the Terry stop. 

Waldon described the first suspect as a white male, 14-15 

years old, 5'8", very thin, with reddish brown hair. RP 55-56, 99, 

267. Gauthun is a white male, 15 years old at the time of the crime, 

about 5'10", skinny, with what Officer Ross believed was "possibly 

reddish" hair. RP 101, 170. Waldon described the second suspect 

as a "possibly Asian" male, 14-15 years old, 5'8", very thin, with 

dark hair and a relatively dark complexion. RP 55-56,98-99,267. 

Green is somewhat shorter than Gauthun's 5'10" height, had dark 

hair and a darker "olive" complexion, and Officer Ross thought he 

"could have been possibly southeast Asian ." RP 101 , 170. Waldon 

saw one of the boys with a backpack. RP 56. Both Gauthun and 

Green had backpacks. And Waldon described the boys as wearing 

darker colored T-shirts. Gauthun was wearing a white T-shirt when 
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Officer Ross contacted him, but given Ross's observations about 

the boys' wet hair yet dry shirts on the wet day, that discrepancy is 

inconsequential. 

Because Gauthun and Green matched the descriptions of 

the suspects, were located near in time and distance to the 

incident, and their appearance and explanation for their activity 

were suspicious, Officer Ross was entitled to make a brief 

investigatory stop. The trial court did not err. 

2. OFFICERS ACTED WITHIN THE LAWFUL SCOPE 
OF THE TERRY STOP. 

Gauthun next contends that, even if the Terry stop were 

initially lawful, the seizure was unlawfully extended when police 

continued to detain him after Waldon said she was uncertain 

whether Gauthun and Green were the boys she had seen at her 

house. He is mistaken. 

The permissible scope of a Terry stop depends on the 

specific circumstances of each case. State v. Sweet, 44 Wn. App. 

226, 232, 721 P.2d 560 (1986). In general, investigative stops 

must be "temporary and last no longer than is necessary to 

effectuate the purpose of the stop. Similarly, the investigative 
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method employed should be the least intrusive means reasonably 

available to verify or dispel the officer's suspicion in a short period 

oftime." kL. (quoting Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500, 103 

S. Ct. 1319, 75 L. Ed . 2d 229 (1983)) . "If the results of the initial 

stop dispel an officer's suspicions, then the officer must end the 

stop. If, however, the officer's initial suspicions are confirmed or 

are further aroused, the scope of the stop may be extended and its 

duration may be prolonged." Acrey, 148 Wn.2d at 747. Three 

factors must be considered in determining whether police exceeded 

the permissible scope of a Terry stop: "the purpose of the stop, the 

amount of physical intrusion upon the suspect's liberty, and the 

length of time the suspect is detained." State v. Williams, 102 

Wn.2d 733,740,689 P.2d 1065 (1984). 

In this case, all three factors support the conclusion that the 

officers acted within the permissible scope of a Terry stop. First, 

the purpose of the stop was to investigate a known crime: the 

attempted burglary of Waldon's home. Second, the officer's 

investigative methods intruded very little on the boys' physical 

liberty. Although Officer Ross asked the boys to step away from 

others at the bus stop to speak privately, he did not draw a weapon, 

place them in handcuffs, frisk them, or direct them to sit or lie upon 
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the ground or to sit in the back of a patrol car. And third, the entire 

detention lasted only about 20 minutes before the boys' arrests. 

Gauthun argues that Waldon's initial inability to identify the 

boys required the police to release Gauthun and Green. But 

Waldon did not rule out that Gauthun and Green were the 

perpetrators. Rather, she said that "they kind of look like the boys," 

and explained that she needed a better view to be certain . RP 62, 

64, 274. Thus, Waldon's initial uncertainty did not dispel the 

officers' suspicions that Gauthun and Green had been involved. 

RP 147, 277. The officers then questioned the boys separately for 

a few more minutes, unsuccessfully attempting a ruse to encourage 

Gauthun to confess. When the ploy did not work, and absent 

Waldon's positive identification, the officers intended to release the 

boys. But even then, their suspicions were not dispelled. Officer 

Jones photographed the boys for a future montage in case other 

witnesses came forward . RP 278. When the officers brought the 

boys closer at Waldon's request, she made an immediate and 

unequivocal identification, and the detention ended with Gauthun's 

and Green's arrests. CP 98. 

Gauthun also contends that the search of his backpack was 

unlawful, and the discovery of the dark clothing inside cannot justify 
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the extended detention. He argues the search was not permissible 

as a weapons frisk under Terry, and that his consent to the search 

was invalid because he was not informed of his right to refuse. As 

an initial matter, Gauthun did not raise the propriety of the 

backpack search below and does not argue that it presents a 

manifest constitutional error reviewable under RAP 2.5. 

Accordingly, this Court should decline to consider the issue. 

Even if this Court reaches Gauthun 's involuntary consent 

claim, it should reject the argument. Gauthun relies on State v. 

Ferrier, 136 Wn.2d 103, 111, 960 P.2d 927 (1998), for the 

proposition that consent to search cannot be voluntary unless the 

subject is informed of the right to refuse or limit consent. See Brief 

of Appellant at 21 . But our supreme court has expressly limited the 

application of Ferrier to "knock and talk" procedures. State v. 

Tagas, 121 Wn. App. 872, 878, 90 P.3d 1088 (2004). "Ferrier, in 

short, does not require warnings in every case where police obtain 

search authority by consent." kL. 

Whether consent was voluntary or the product of duress or 

coercion is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of 

the circumstances. State v. O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d 564, 588, 62 P.3d 

489 (2003). The totality of the circumstances includes "(1) whether 
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Miranda[21 warnings had been given prior to obtaining consent; 

(2) the degree of education and intelligence of the consenting 

person; and (3) whether the consenting person had been advised 

of his right to consent." State v. Bustamante-Davila, 138 Wn.2d 

964,981-82,983 P.2d 590 (1999). These factors are not exclusive. 

O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 588. "Additional factors that may affect the 

voluntariness of consent include express or implied claims of 

authority to search, prior illegal police action, prior cooperation or 

refusal to cooperate, and police deception as to identity or 

purpose." State v. Flowers, 57 Wn. App. 636, 645, 789 P.2d 333 

(1990). "The various relevant factors are weighed against one 

another and no one factor is determinative." State v. Smith, 115 

Wn.2d 775, 789, 801 P.2d 795 (1990); State v. Nelson, 47 

Wn. App. 157,734 P.2d 516 (1987) ("Although knowledge of the 

right to refuse consent is relevant, it is not absolutely necessary . .. . 

Miranda warnings are not a prerequisite to a voluntary consent. 

Merely because an individual is in ... custody ... does not mean that 

consent is coerced ." (Citations omitted.» . 

Gauthun argues that his consent was not voluntary because 

he had not received Miranda warnings, was not told of his right to 

2 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436,86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). 
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refuse consent, was 15 years old , and has a below-average 10. 

But other circumstances demonstrate that Gauthun's consent was 

valid . At the time Officer Ross asked Gauthun to open his bag, he 

was not in custody and was not entitled to Miranda warnings. 

See State v. Heritage, 152 Wn.2d 210, 218, 95 P.3d 345 (2004) 

("[A] detaining officer may ask a moderate number of questions 

during a Terry stop to determine the identity of the suspect and to 

confirm or dispel the officer's suspicions without rendering the 

suspect 'in custody' for the purposes of Miranda."). Officer Ross 

made no express or implied claim of authority to search Gauthun's 

bag . See O'Neill, 148 Wn.2d at 589 (consent involuntary when 

officer told defendant told that he did not need consent or a warrant 

to search but could simply arrest O'Neill and search the car incident 

to arrest) . Rather, Officer Ross asked the boys whether they would 

"mind" opening up the backpacks. RP 132. There was no prior 

illegal police action, and the police did not deceive the boys as to 

their identity or purpose. Further, although Gauthun was not 

advised of his rights before opening his backpack, it is worth noting 

that this was not Gauthun's first run-in with the law - he had 

previously received a deferred disposition for attempted assault in 

the second degree. RP 375. Under the totality of the 
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circumstances, Gauthun's consent to search his backpack was 

voluntary. 

But even if Gauthun's consent was invalid and the fruits of 

that search were suppressed, it makes no difference to the 

lawfulness of the Terry stop. Gauthun asserts that the presence of 

a wet jacket inside his backpack was one of the factors cited by 

Officer Jones to justify the extended detention. Brief of Appellant 

at 19. But even without the jacket, the officers' observations that 

the boys were peculiarly underdressed for the weather and that 

their shirts were dry but their hair was wet led them to conclude that 

the boys had recently removed their outerwear. RP 278-79. Even 

if police never found the gray jacket, this reasonable inference 

diminished the significance of the discrepancy between Waldon's 

description and Gauthun's appearance. 

Because the detention was temporary, lasted no longer than 

necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop, and utilized 

investigative methods that were no more intrusive than necessary 

to confirm or dispel the officer's suspicion in a short period of time, 

this Court should conclude that the officers acted within the lawful 

scope of the Terry stop. See Williams, 102 Wn .2d at 738 (citing 

Royer, 460 U.S. at 500). The trial court should be affirmed. 
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3. WALDON'S FIELD IDENTIFICATION OF GAUTHUN 
WAS ADMISSIBLE. 

Gauthun argues that Waldon's in-field identification of him 

and Green as the would-be burglars was impermissibly suggestive 

and that it, as well Waldon's later in-court identification, should 

have been suppressed. Because Gauthun cannot establish that 

the identification procedure created a substantial likelihood of 

misidentification, his argument fails . 

An out-of-court identification procedure satisfies due 

process if it is not so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to 

"a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification ." State v. 

Linares, 98 Wn. App. 397, 401, 989 P.2d 591 (1999) (citing State v. 

Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d 604, 682 P.2d 878 (1984)) . A defendant 

claiming a due process violation must first establish that the 

identification procedure was unduly suggestive. kL. If this threshold 

burden is satisfied, the court then determines whether, under the 

totality of the circumstances, the procedure was so suggestive as to 

create a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Id. 

A trial court's decision to admit evidence of an out-of-court 

identification is within the sound discretion of the court and subject 
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to review for abuse of discretion. State v. Kinard, 109 Wn. App. 

428,432, 36 P.3d 573 (2001) . 

"Showup identifications are not per se unnecessarily 

suggestive, and one held shortly after the crime is committed and in 

the course of a prompt search for the suspect is permissible." State 

v. Rogers, 44 Wn. App. 510, 515,722 P.2d 1349 (1986). The key 

inquiry in determining admissibility is whether the identification is 

reliable despite any suggestiveness. Rogers, 44 Wn. App. at 515 

(citing Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 

L. Ed . 2d 140 (1977)) . 

To determine whether the suggestiveness of an identification 

procedure creates a substantial likelihood of misidentification, the 

reviewing court considers five factors: (1) the opportunity of the 

witness to view the suspect at the time of the crime, (2) the 

witness's level of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's 

description of the offender, (4) the level of certainty at confrontation , 

and (5) the time between the offense and confrontation . State v. 

Barker, 103 Wn. App. 893, 905, 14 P.3d 863 (2000) ; Neil v. 

Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200, 193 S. Ct. 357, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 

(1972) . 
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Here, while Waldon faced the two boys briefly ("at least a 

good three seconds, if not longer"), she was in close proximity to 

them. RP 54. Waldon testified that she was only two feet away 

from the kitchen window and that the two boys were immediately on 

the other side. The open blinds did not impede Waldon's view,

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